City of Geneva, lllinois

Local Historic District & Landmarks
Property Inventory Survey

GENERAL PROPERTY INFORMATION:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

322 Peyton Street

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (PIN):

12-03-406-002

HISTORIC NAME: Unknown

COMMON NAME: Unknown

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1849

SIGNIFICANT ALTERATION DATES:

ARCHITECT: Unknown

BUILDER: Westgarth, George
WILSON BROTHERS: ~ [JAUGUST ~ [J OSCAR O BOTH

ARCHITECTURAL DATA:

ARCHITECTURAL STYLE: Upright and Wing

OVERALL PLAN SHAPE: | -Shaped

LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE RATING:

NUMBER OF STORIES: 2

[ ] significant

FOUNDATION MATERIAL: Stone

|z| Contributing

PRIMARY WALL MATERIAL(S): Limestone

|:| Non-Contributing — Built After 1987

|:| Non-Contributing — Reversible Alterations

FRONT PORCH: Partial Facade

|:| Non-Contributing — Irreversible Alterations

VISIBLE SIDE PORCH: N/A

HISTORIC DISTRICT LOCATION:

ENTRY DOOR(S): Non Historic

|:| Central Geneva NRHD

WINDOW MATERIAL: Wood

|E| North Geneva NRHD

WINDOW STYLE: Double-Hung, 6/6

|E| Local Geneva HD

PRIMARY ROOF FORM: Gable

|:| Not in HD / Individual Historic Landmark

PRIMARY ROOF MATERIAL: Asphalt

NR DISTRICT SIGNIFICANCE RATING:

VISIBLE CHIMNEY: N/A

|E| Contributing

|:| Non-Contributing

CHIMNEY MATERIAL: N/A

|:| Not Applicable / Not in NR District

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES:
N/A

HPC ACTION:

|:| Demolition Approved:

Other HPC Action:




City of Geneva, lllinois

Local Historic District & Landmarks
Property Inventory Survey

ADDITIONAL PROPERTY INFORMATION:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

322 Peyton Street

BRIEF HISTORICAL DESCRIPTION:

Originally built as a limestone barn by George Westgarth in 1848 or
1849, this structure is notable for being the only locally quarried
limestone barn in Geneva. It was officially converted into a residence
in 1888 when it was covered in stucco.

George Westgarth was an English stonemason who built his
limestone home, Villa Verone, at 416 Hamilton in 1849. Later that
same year, he constructed a stone livery barn from a local river stone
not far from his home. A devoted Disciples of Christ congregation
member, Westgarth built several homes for members and the
meeting house on Campbell Street in 1857. In 1854, he sold his
home to Elias Crary and moved his family into the barn, converting it
into their residence. Local lore suggests that church services were
held on the house's second floor and barn for eight years until the
congregation completed their church.

SOURCES:

GHPC Case Studies; GHM Archives; 2016 Central North Geneva NRHP Update; 1869
Bird's Eye View of Geneva; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps; Kane County Land
Records; Geneva, lllinois: A History of Its Times and Places; Geneva, lllinois: 150
LReminders of 150 Years: Wilson Brathers - Contractors & Builders1905-1931 by

CONTRIBUTING ACCESSORY STRUCTURES:

AS1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
N/A

AS2 GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
N/A

CONTRIBUTING LANDSCAPE FEATURES:

GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
N/A
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	BRIEF HISTORICAL DESCRIPTION: Originally built as a limestone barn by George Westgarth in 1848 or 1849, this structure is notable for being the only locally quarried limestone barn in Geneva. It was officially converted into a residence in 1888 when it was covered in stucco. 

George Westgarth was an English stonemason who built his limestone home, Villa Verone, at 416 Hamilton in 1849. Later that same year, he constructed a stone livery barn from a local river stone not far from his home. A devoted Disciples of Christ congregation member, Westgarth built several homes for members and the meeting house on Campbell Street in 1857. In 1854, he sold his home to Elias Crary and moved his family into the barn, converting it into their residence. Local lore suggests that church services were held on the house's second floor and barn for eight years until the congregation completed their church.


The barn was stuccoed over in 1888 by John Ferris, who purchased the property from LaFayette Steves in 1873. Julius Alexander noted in his memoirs that "the cemented house on the south side of Peyton between Third and Fourth was built by Westgarth for his barn in the same year (1849)," likely referring to the Crary House at 416 Hamilton. This suggests the house was finished with a delicate lime cement plaster, similar to the Milton Octagonal House in Wisconsin.

The house's exterior features one window on the second story for the hayloft, along with massive stone lintels that are almost triangular rather than rectangular. A small open porch to the right was screened about 30 years ago. The house is positioned closer to the sidewalk and street than current zoning permits, making it 'legal non-conforming' since it would now require a 20-foot setback. A frame addition was added to the back in the 1970s and is set back nicely, allowing the stone façade to dominate the front view.

The home was converted into a three-unit building between the 1970s and 1980s, featuring two apartments on the first floor and one upstairs. The bathrooms are in unusual locations, jutting into the main living spaces. Kevin Fitzpatrick renovated the house in the 1990s, converting it into a single-family home. Subsequent owners have continued to enhance the interior, repairing and replacing floors. A large stone lintel once crashed from the front window through the floor and now serves as the mantel in the family room.

Historical Sanborn maps provide additional insights into the property. The 1891 map shows a two-story main structure designated as a "D" dwelling, a one-story west porch and one-story rear porch, and small structures to the east and south. The 1897 map indicates that the building was used for a furniture repair and renovating business, with an upstairs tenant identified as a builder and engineer. The 1905 map illustrates the same two-story structure with a one-story west porch and two one-story rear porches. The 1912 map reflects the continued presence of the two-story main structure and porches and a new building at the southwest corner of the lot. The 1923 map shows the lot being split north/south but retains the main structure and porches, while the 1930 map again depicts the two-story main structure and the west porch, with the lot split east/west.

The barn, now a residence, is depicted in these maps, raising questions about the structure to the west, which needs to be shown in the footprint on the 1891 Sanborn map. This could be the Thomas Beebe Blacksmith Shop, established around 1869, as noted in a Bird's Eye Map, or another building that has since been razed. The property changed hands several times, with significant transactions involving Thomas and Josephine Beebe, and Frederic and Mary Agnes Carter. The house received a plaque in 2001 from the Geneva Historical Museum, recognizing its historical significance.
	SOURCES: GHPC Case Studies; GHM Archives; 2016 Central North Geneva NRHP Update; 1869 Bird's Eye View of Geneva; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps; Kane County Land Records; Geneva, Illinois: A History of Its Times and Places; Geneva, Illinois: 150 Reminders of 150 Years; Wilson Brothers - Contractors & Builders, 1905-1931 by Donald Wilson (2002)
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